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Mayor’s Message

On behalf of Council and myself we are pleased to present the 2012 Annual Report
for the City of Merritt. Council continues to work closely with staff to ensure our
operating costs are sustainable and that capital projects are funded by the residents
who will be using them.
2012 was a year of completing projects and setting a firmer base for the City's
future. We began with leasing out five lots at our airport which will establish
another form of secure income for the City, as well as provide jobs and training for
up to 100 people. Future leased lots are immanent as the demand for this type of
real estate grows.
The final payments on the Arena Improvement Loan and the Collettville Water and
Sewer Installation Project were made in 2012. The Aquatic Centre final payment
will be made in the spring of 2013. Council received key reports on our water and
sewage systems which both show that our future capacity is good and our existing
wells, water availability and sewage treatment facilities will take us into the next
decade without any large expenditures or concerns. Council continues to advocate
for water conservation in order that future generations will be able to enjoy access
to this necessity of life. 2013 will bring in the report on storm water management which will assist the City in managing future developments and densification. This report is also key to any future improvements to existing areas of our
City that residents may want through our Local Service Area Improvement Program.
The Merritt Transmission Project began this April, with July 2014 set as the projected in service date. This long
awaited project will secure our future with the doubling of our hydro supply. Many small manufacturing businesses
looking at locating in Merritt have been unable to do so due to our limited hydro availability. This should change in 2014.
Merritt's future is bright. We are a well-managed community with a focus on keeping us competitive and sustainable.
Our location and climate will keep us in the eye of retiring baby boomers. With Merritt as the community of choice for
many large events we will have the opportunity to show first-hand the amenities and benefits we have to offer.
I encourage our existing residents to be proud of what has been accomplished for a City of our size and brag to your
friends and family the benefits of living in Merritt. You are our best form of advertising.
Susan Roline, Mayor, City of Merritt
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Chief Administrative Officer’s Message

On behalf of Administration and staff, we are pleased again to submit this Annual Report of the City of Merritt for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2012. The report describes activities that resulted from strategic priorities of Council as outlined
in the Strategic Plan. It also includes the results of activities undertaken by the City of Merritt to provide safe, reliable and
cost effective service to the community in the areas of Infrastructure Investment and Protection, Planning, Finance, Economic Development, Leisure and Parks Services, Solid Waste and Recycling Programs, Sustainable Water and Waste Water
Services and Fire and Police Protective Services.
Highlights for the year include our continued work with First Nations to establish an understanding for Inter-Community
Economic Alliances that will benefit the City of Merritt, First Nations and the region. During the year, a number of infrastructure and productivity investments and capital projects were embarked upon and completed that will serve the community for decades to come. The City collaborated with business and industry to lay plans for new investments that will
provide growth opportunities and future benefits to the City. The City has maintained its commitment to partner in the
growth of our region.
During the year 2012, we were successful in establishing a template for “Service to the Community” that will deliver service
required to allow us to become a leader in business retention, attraction and expansion in the Province. Continued focus
has been to create trust between future and existing citizens and investors and the City of Merritt. To this end, we have successfully employed tools that will create an environment for new and existing business to succeed in the City of Merritt.
We attribute our success in achieving established goals to the efforts of our City Council, The Mayor, employees, volunteer
groups and many community stakeholders.
Respectfully submitted, Matt Noble, CAO

The Ideal Future We Are

Striving For

VISION

MISSION

A Healthy Economy
A Thriving Downtown
Room to Grow
Viable City Finances
Well Managed City Assets
A Great Place to Live
A Progressive Image
A Great Place to Visit

The City Of Merritt is a progressive,

www.merritt.ca

attractive, economically viable city
that is socially responsible and
environmentally sustainable.
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Introduction
All Roads Lead to Merritt!
Merritt is located at the junction of Highway 97C

campground, lawn bowling, swimming, curling, hockey,

(the Connector), Highways 5, 5A and 8. From Merritt

and a number of other fun activities to experience.

it is an easy 3 hour drive to Vancouver, 1 hour to
Kelowna or 45 minutes to Kamloops.

If you are looking to build your business in a strong
community, strategically close to the Lower Mainland

Enjoy a picnic in Lions Park on the banks of the Nicola
River! Walk the trail along the Coldwater River!
Visit the museum! Visit Baillie House! Walk the Walk
of Stars and check out the Country Music Murals!

and Thompson Okanagan regions, look no farther than
the City of Merritt. Merritt has the location, labour force
and infrastructure to allow businesses to develop and expand where country life meets up with urban amenities.

Within the City, explore the skate park, mountain bike

The City of Merritt administration is comprised of

park, children’s water park, hiking trail, and the Kettle

professional Finance, Planning, Public Works, Building

Valley Railway trail system. There is a golf course,

Inspection, Bylaw Enforcement and Fire Rescue, Plan

Organizational Chart

Mayor and Council
Susan Roline
Dave Baker
Kurt Christopherson
Mike Goetz
Harry Kroeker
Alastair Murdoch
Clara Norgaard

As at Dec. 31, 2012

Chief Administrative Officer
Matt Noble

Public Works
Works Manager
Shawn Boven

Building Safety &
Inspection Services
Contract

Leisure Services
Manager
Larry Plotnikoff

Financial Services
Manager
Pat Sibilleau

Development Services
Officer
Sean O’Flaherty

Economic Development
Services Manager
James Umpherson

Deputy Financial Services
Manager
Ben Currie

Works
Public Works
Superintendent
Darrell Finnigan

%
%%

%
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CITY OF MERRITT
(Census Subdivision)
ning and Economic Development departments

Characteristics
Population in 2012 *

Total
7155

Population in 2011

7189

presents the activities and projections of each

Population in 2006

7148

department and the City of Merritt to its citizens.

2006 to 2011 population change (%)

based out of City Hall. City Hall is centrally located
between the Civic Centre, the Aquatic Centre and
the Arena on Voght Street. The 2012 Annual report

It is also a requirement of the Community Charter.

0.6

Total private dwellings

3141

information to the citizens of Merritt and to those

Population density per square kilometre

287.2

who are considering investing in our City.

Land area (square km)

25.03

It is the intent of the report to provide useful

Please check out the website at www.merritt.ca

Median age of the population

43.9

* Sources: Demographic Analysis Section, BC Stats,
Ministry of Citizens’ Services and Open Government,
Government of British Columbia- Dec/2012
Statistics Canada; 2011 Census of Population

City Solicitor: Young Anderson
Auditors: KPMG Kamloops
Bank: Royal Bank of Canada

Deputy Clerk
Human Resources
Carole Fraser

Bylaw Services
Bob Davis

Community Policing
Coordinator
Kelly Donaldson

RCMP Staff Sargeant
Sheila White

Fire Chief
Dave Tomkinson
Tomkinson

Fire Prevention/
Emergency Program
Coordinator
Sky McKeown

ork
Training
T
raining Officer/W
Officer/Work
Experience Coordinator
Carl Johnston

www.merritt.ca
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Objectives

2012 Strategic Areas Of Focus
• Various upgrades to the Civic Centre, Nicola Valley Memorial Arena and the Aquatic Centre were completed
in 2012 to extend and enhance the life of these facilities and provide improved service to users.
• A review of the water and sewer systems was completed in preparation for an integrated storm water
management plan to be developed.
• The DeWolf Way and Garcia/Granite project were completed to enhance the visual appeal for both residents
and visitors.
• On-going projects, such as asphalt and sidewalk rehabilitation projects were continued.
Other on-going projects include, but are not limited to fire hydrant, water main, and sewer main replacement.
• Upgrades to the network, computer system and phone system were completed in 2012, to ensure that the City
has current and trustworthy technology, and to complement the organization’s communication strategy.
• The City of Merritt's new and redesigned webpage was launched to allow the City to communicate and
inform the residents of Merritt, and those who are considering investing in Merritt, of the services, events and
highlights of the community. Check it out at www.merritt.ca
• Safety and security continues to be enhanced thru strategic investment and staff training, as evidenced
by the ongoing development of the Fire Department.
• Development of the Airport subdivision infrastructure (water and sewer) was completed in 2012,
which allowed long term tenants to be secured.
• New curbside garbage cans were introduced.
• The City’s fleet of vehicles continues to be upgraded to according to policy.

8 City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report
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2013 Strategic Areas Of Focus
• An integrated storm water management plan will be developed.

• On-going projects, such as asphalt and sidewalk rehabilitation projects will continue.
Other on-going projects include, but are not limited to fire hydrant, water main, and sewer main replacement.
• Curbside recycling will be introduced to ensure that the City is a responsible environmentally.
• The City of Merritt is anticipating significant commercial and industrial investment as a result of strong
economic policy.

www.merritt.ca
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Public Works

Hydrant Training

The Public Works Team

Prepared By
Darrell Finnigan,
Superintendent
Public Works
Please refer www.merritt.ca
for more detailed information
regarding Public Works,
Community Water and
Wastewater Treatment.

This 2012 Annual Report highlights and presents some of the critical services and
successes of the professional, technical and skilled staff of the Public Works team.
This very diverse and experienced group of individuals works hard to provide water,
sewer, road maintenance and many other services to the citizens of Merritt.
In late 2012, our Chief Treatment Plant Operator position, which had been vacant
since November of 2010, was filled, in house, by Kevin Vilac. He currently holds a
Level 2 WWTPO Certificate and will be able to obtain his Level 3 within two years.
As he works towards the Level 3 certification, Darrell Finnigan, Superintendent of
Public Works, will continue to directly oversee the operations. Public Works employees continue to upgrade in all aspects of the Public Works field to ensure that they
are current with new activities and municipal, provincial, and federal regulations.
The hard work and dedication of these employees, and the support from City management, keep all areas of the City running smoothly 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

Fleet Maintenance
Fleet Maintenance, a division of the Public Works Department, is responsible for the
maintenance, acquisition and management of the City’s fleet. In addition to the City
fleet, this group also maintains vehicles and equipment for the Fire Department and
is involved with repairs and maintenance in the Wastewater Treatment Plant and
high lift pump stations as well as numerous projects in all other departments.

Solid Waste
The residential garbage truck operator picks up garbage from every house in the
City of Merritt, making a minimum of 1,700 stops a week. The operator manually
picks up approximately 3,400 bags or cans of garbage a week. With an average of

10 City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report
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‘‘

The hard work and dedication of these employees and the support from
City management keeps all areas of the City running
smoothly twenty four (24) hours a day seven (7) days a week

20 lbs. per bag, the operator will lift 68,000 lbs. of garbage
a week or 3,536,000 lbs. a year. In April of 2012 the City
purchased an automated residential garbage truck and
special containers for every residential house in the City.
The new containers hold 120 liters or the volume of two
average size black garbage bags. The new automated
system has proven effective, not only to help reduce the
amount of garbage picked up, but also reduce tipping fee
costs to the TNRD. The residential garbage truck operates four days a week (Tuesday to Friday); the operator on
Mondays is utilized within any other Public Works Department depending on other workloads.
The commercial garbage truck driver is a part time employee who works three days a week. The commercial
garbage truck empties 324 bins a week or 16,848 bins a
year which is accomplished in three days per week
(Monday, Wednesday and Friday). Garbage bin maintenance and customer requests are completed by moving a
worker from another department when needed.

’’

Roads
In 2012 the Roads Department started a sidewalk grinding
program in conjunction with our sidewalk inspection program. In the first year, 389 tripping hazards were eliminated
by grinding the concrete to make the sidewalk flat again.
The Roads Department maintains and repairs approximately 61 km of roadways. In 2012 the Public Works
Department patched approximately 500 potholes and
repaired a minimum of 20 other asphalt related problems. The majority of these repairs were from water
main breaks. The City is also currently crack-sealing once
a year in hopes of extending the life of our aging asphalt.

Parks
The City of Merritt Parks Department is operated with all
seasonal employees who are employed from April to October. The Parks Department is comprised of one Parks
foreman, three labourers and two summer students.

The Utilities Department maintains the underground
water, storm and sanitary sewer infrastructure, and performs the water meter reading maintenance functions for
the City.

The Parks Department is responsible for maintaining
eight parks totalling over 50 acres of parkland and 5 km
of trails; managing the landscaping of all civic facilities
that include City Hall, the Civic Centre, Spirit Square, the
Fire Hall, the Museum, the north east entrance to the City
and the Airport. Also included are all boulevards and
right-of-ways within the City.

In 2012 there were 26 water related emergencies and a
total of 47 water repairs. They consisted of 5 water main
breaks, 22 water connection and 7 hydrant emergencies, 2
water meter repairs and 6 valve repairs or replacements.
Many of these emergencies were repaired or replaced
after working hours and throughout the night.

Parks staff maintains approximately 45 acres of turf on a
weekly basis. This includes mowing, aerating, over seeding, topdressing, line trimming, the use of a healthy fertilization program and irrigation practices. There are 25
annual flower beds, 52 planters and five perennials beds
that are planted and maintained during the planting

Utilities

www.merritt.ca
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Public Works
Fleet Maintenance Responsibilities
As of December 31, 2012

season. There are over 150 trees planted on City property
needing ongoing care. This requires planting of new
trees, watering, fertilizing, pruning, health monitoring,
hazard assessment and, removal when necessary.
All City parks are irrigated with the Toro Sentinel program that controls the irrigation system and the sprinklers, based on weather conditions such as rain, wind,
and drying trends. The system is continually monitored,
inspected and repaired as needed.
Regarding concerns for environmental conservation and
improvement, staff is responsible for litter removal and
clean-up of unsightly areas. Recycling containers have
been added to the parks as well as bio-degradable dog
clean up bags. These bags are now available, free of
charge, throughout the parks for public use. With the completion of the Recycle Depot, we hope to reduce the
amount of litter and waste materials within the City.
The general maintenance and operations at Pine Ridge
Cemetery is also the responsibility of the Parks Department. This includes the digging, preparation, opening and
closing of graves, interments, the installation of memorial
tablets, monuments on the graves, mowing, and line trimming.
Public Works plays an important part in many different
emergencies within the City. During high water Public
12 City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report

Works role is assisting with the installation of barriers
and sand bags placed along the Nicola and Coldwater
River banks. We work closely with the RCMP for placement of barricades and road closures during emergencies
and with the Fire Department to maintain hydrants and
water levels in reservoirs during any fire events.

Public Requests & Emergency Work
The Public Works Department attends to many other calls
and requests that are over and above the everyday
planned duties. Each time one of these requests is handled
by Public Works, a worker or workers must be taken away
from their planned schedule. The time taken to help the citizens of Merritt, outside the regular planned duties, equals
2,109 hours or 1.04 full time workers a year. These include:
460 Customer Requests – These are initiated by forms
often completed by City Hall staff who have taken the requests from citizens who have a complaint, concern or a
job beyond the normal daily planned duties of Public
Works staff. Some of these requests are snow removal in
front of driveways, slippery streets and/or crosswalks,
garbage dumped or blowing around, new street sign requests, removal of dead animals, dusty streets, etc. Averaging 308 requests at two hours per request, with a
second employee for larger requests 50% of the time, it
would take 770 working hours or just over 3.5 months for a
full time worker to assess and complete the requests.
www.merritt.ca
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Public Works plays an important role in many different
emergencies within the City

150 Water On/Off or Meter Repair Requests – Water on
and off requests are generally requested by local
plumbers or, in many cases, homeowners. The requests
come in at all hours requiring Public Works staff to respond when needed. The average time it takes an employee to respond, find the shut off, and turn the water off
or on is 1 hour. On average it has taken city employees
135 hours or 16.8 full time working days a year.
202 BC One Call – The City of Merritt is enrolled in the BC
One Call system. The system is a valuable resource for
all utilities to be located to make each and every excavation a safe work site. Being enrolled in this system requires our location of our own utilities for other
companies or homeowners. In 2012, utilities were located
in 202 different locations within our City limits. To locate
each time takes, on average, 1.5 hours or 134 hours in
total.
101 Garbage Change Requests – These requests are as
simple as moving a bin to a different location on a customer’s lot or as time consuming as removing the bin to
change sizes, bring it in for repairs or welding, or install
chains to make the bin lockable. Each one of these requests, on average, takes an hour to complete.
48 Emergency Water/Sewer Leaks – These emergency
leaks are unpredictable and are beyond our planned
www.merritt.ca

’’

work within the water and sewer systems. The 37 emergency leaks ranged from ≤ inch service line repairs to 10
inch main line repairs. On average it has taken four employees six hours for each emergency or 888 working
hours total to make these repairs.
43 Cemetery Burials – The City performs all cemetery functions, including burials. Each burial, on average, takes two
employees four hours each for a total of 112 hours.

2012 Capital Project Highlights
Truck route asphalt repairs
Asphalt rehabilitation program
Sidewalk replacement program
Quilchena trees
Chevy Lumina replacement
Chevy pick-up replacement
Backhoe repairs
Shop lights upgrade
Red shale for ball diamonds
Five hydrant replacements
Water main replacement
Water meter replacement
Sewer main replacement
City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report 13

Community Water System

Trained And Certified City Staff
are dedicated to maintaining the supply of safe drinking water for users in Merritt.
Raw water for the City of Merritt water system is extracted from an aquifer through
five pump stations. In 2012 the aquifer provided 582,806,000 imperial gallons (IG) or
2,649,118,000 liters of water consumed within the Merritt system which represents a
9.9% decrease in overall water consumption from 2011. Maximum daily water demand peaked at 3,224,749 (IG) or 14,660,000 liters on August 16, 2012, while minimum
daily demand occurred on January 8, 2012, at 781,550 (IG) or 3,553,000 liters.
Water consumption in Merritt in 2012 averaged 7,239,039 liters per day. On August 16,
water consumption was 1,832 liters per person, while on January 8 consumption was
Prepared By
Darrell Finnigan,
Superintendent
Public Works

444 liters per person. The average was 905 liters per person in Merritt each and
every day of the year (based on a population of 8,000); average daily consumption in
Canada is only 329 liters per person.
The enforcement of sprinkling and excess water usage will continue to be a priority
to achieve reduced water usage. As the City continues to grow, this will become increasingly important.

14 City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report
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The enforcement of sprinkling and excess water usage will
continue to be a priority to achieve reduced water usage

The chlorination program with the City of Merritt’s water
system continues, satisfying a requirement of Interior
Health in 2008 to help safeguard our drinking water supply. The system is subject to a comprehensive and rigorous testing program that ensures quality drinking water.
Test records are stored on the City’s WaterTrax© database. Information from this database can be retrieved in
many formats for presentation, analysis or public information. For example, the monthly water report posted on
the City of Merritt website is prepared using WaterTrax©.
This data is also used to provide information to the
provincial Drinking Water Officer, including the completion of this annual report.

The public is able to log in and view information about
our water system at: www.watertrax.com using the
name “Merritt Guest” and password of “MerrittGuest1”.
Trained, certified City staff (on call 24 hours per day) continues to work to maintain the supply of safe drinking
water for users in Merritt. This is accomplished by ensuring that staff is on duty every day of the year and that all
information from the different stations is sent back to the
central computer system (SCADA) at the Wastewater
Treatment Plant for monitoring and reviewing. Water
distribution work is completed by staff certified for their
www.merritt.ca

’’

tasks - water main replacement, water service installation, fire hydrant and valve maintenance. Special tasks
such as reservoir cleaning and leak detection are undertaken by qualified contractors with the proper equipment
and experience to complete the work.
There were 18 emergency callouts in 2012 (down from 26
in 2011). Loss of communications made up the majority of
calls at 10. Other callouts were four pump fault alarms
and nine security alarms that were due to communication problems, alerting operators as security issues.

Maintenance/Capital Projects –2012
• The Collettville motor and pump were removed in April
and were found to be in irreparable condition. Due to
the cost of a new motor and pump, as well as having to
rehabilitate the well, this project was carried over for
completion in 2013.
• The well was cleaned and rehabilitated using a cable
tool drill rig.
• The water main was extended out to the airport terminal.
• The airport well was decommissioned permanently.
• Five fire hydrants were replaced and new independent
valves were installed.
• New ultrasonic level transmitters were installed in the
Nicola and Grimmett reservoirs.
• 12 water main breaks/leaks were located and repaired
• 20 water service leaks were located and repaired.
• 6 new water services were installed.
• 6 new water meters were installed and 10 were
replaced.
• 260 weekly water samples were taken.
City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report 15

Community Water System

Total Water Use

Average Daily Water Use
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The City of Merritt should be able to maintain a quality water source
and distribution system for many years to come

’’

Water Consumption
Per Person Per Day

Initiatives – 2013
Completion of the Collettville pump replacement
project will take place is 2013 as well as finishing
the installation of the new flow meter, level transmitter, check valve and a new Cl2 injection pump. A
new online chlorine analyzer will be installed at the
Grimmett Reservoir. The Cross Connection Control
Coordinator will continue to perform facility hazard
assessments throughout the City to identify and
work closely with owners to install the proper backflow assemblies. Having these devices in place is a
positive step forward in protecting the City’s drinking water system.

The City of Merritt employees work hard in the effort to maintain and ensure proper water usage,
monitor water quantity and quality, and educate the
public whenever possible. With these goals the
City of Merritt should be able to maintain a quality
water source and distribution system for many
years to come.

www.merritt.ca
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Wastewater Treatment

The City of Merritt’s Wastewater Treatment Plant
(WWTP), located at 1298 Coldwater Avenue, treats only wastewater from the City of
Merritt. The City strives to keep the WWTP operating with modern control systems
and equipment that keeps its discharge levels well below the permitted levels set
out by the Ministry of Environment.
The gravity sanitary sewer system is maintained by the Public Works Department.
The Wastewater Treatment Division looks after two syphons, as well as two lift Stations (Nicola Lift Station and Collettville Lift Station) that collect the wastewater and
then pump it into the trunk mains.

Prepared By
Darrell Finnigan,
Superintendent
Public Works

Lift Station Maintenance and Capital Projects completed in 2012 include:
• The Nicola Lift Station was cleaned four times by a contracted vac truck.
• The pump at the Nicola Lift Station was removed and inspected four times
throughout 2012.
• Collettville Lift Station’s pumps were pulled and inspected in July 2012.
• Pump #2 from Collettville Lift Station was rebuilt.
• Collettville Lift Station was cleaned twice by a contracted vac truck.
• Each life station was physically inspected every week for operation
and vandalism.
• There were no capital projects scheduled for either lift station in 2012.
Lift Station Goals & Objectives planned for 2013 include:
• Purchase a spare pump for the Collettville Lift Station.
• Weekly inspection of pumps and level bulbs.
• Annual inspection and cleaning of stations.

18 City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report
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The lift stations are physically inspected every week for
operation and vandalism

’’

Influent (Raw Wastewater)
In 2012 the City of Merritt Wastewater Treatment Plant
received 1,081,353 cubic meters (237,864,407 million IG) of
influent from the sanitary sewer system. The 2012 average daily influent flow rate was 2,953 cubic meters per
day. The average influent flow rate per person was 369.1
liters/day/person based on a population of 8,000 for the
city of Merritt. This is a 0.8% decrease from the 2011 influent flow. The peak flow day was observed on June 29 at
4,439 m3 and the minimum flow day was observed on
February 19 at 2,211 m3.

m3/month
Table #1 Shows the monthly flow comparison from 2011 to 2012.
www.merritt.ca
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Wastewater Treatment
TABLE # 2
Parameters for
WWTP &
R.I Basin Inflow

TABLE # 3
Parameters for
River Discharge

Summary of WWTP/Lift Station Emergency Call Outs for 2012:
• WWTP – 9
• Lift Stations – 6
• Hydro Related (Bumps, Outages) – 1
• PLC Communications Failure-3
With B.C Hydro’s upgrades and replacing faulty equipment we experienced a 91% reduction in call outs related
to power. We also saw a decrease of 50% of call outs related to the plant. These types of call outs were reduced
because of upgrades and process changes that we made
to the treatment process. The reduction in call outs is di20 City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report

rectly related to the equipment upgrades made throughout the year. The overall 56% reduction in call outs is a
significant cost savings.
Wastewater Treatment Plant Maintenance and Capital
Projects Completed in 2012 Include:
• Installation of two more dissolved oxygen probes.
• Rebuilding of blower #1.
• Replaced digestor blower VFD.
• Installed bypass insert for the main flow meter.
• Installed new main influent flow meter.
• Replaced grit room heater cores.
www.merritt.ca
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The Good Earth Company has successfully created a composted material
that can be resold and reused as a soil supplement

WWTP Goals and Objectives planned for 2013 include:
• Daily/weekly inspection and cleaning of equipment.
• Rebuild blower #2.
• Install a new plug valve and controller on the EQ line.
• Replace aging WAS flow meter.
• Replace aging air compressor.
• Continue to train and promote operator education.
• Continue to work and explore ways to help conserve
water and power usage.
Quality Monitoring
As outlined in our permit, we monitor daily influent flow
and weekly phosphorus levels. Monthly samples are also
taken as per our permit for a five day biological oxygen
demand (BOD5), total suspended solids (TSS), total phosphorus (TP) and total dissolved phosphorus (TDP). Table
#2 shows the parameters monitored, our permit’s required
levels, and the WWTP’s 2012 average monthly lab results.
You will notice we have maintained a yearly average of
over 62% lower BOD5, 82% lower TSS, 67% lower TP and
87% lower for TDP than the maximum allowable permit
levels.
Table #3 shows the requirements of our permit if effluent
flow is directed to the Coldwater River. No effluent was
directed to the Coldwater River in 2012. Effluent would
only be directed to the river if there was an emergency
situation where the basins were unable to receive the
total effluent flow. Final effluent has not been directed to
the Coldwater River since 1997.
The Wastewater Treatment Plant exceeded the permitted
flow requirements in 2012 for a period of six days.
www.merritt.ca
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This was due to an extremely high water table during the
spring freshet. The Ministry of Environment was made
aware each day until the flows came back into the permitted standards.

Rapid Infiltration Maintenance and Capital Projects
Completed in 2012 Include:
• Disking each basin twice a year in the spring and fall.
• Weeding around and inside each basin.
• No capital projects were scheduled for 2012.
Rapid Infiltration Basin Goals and Objectives Planned
for 2013 Include:
• Weekly inspection and cleaning of valves and pipes.
• Weekly inspection of solid build ups.
• Spring clean-up of weeds and grasses from around
containment basins.
• Disking each basin.
Bio-Solids
The Good Earth Company continues to compost the City’s
bio-solids. The site has been developed to use the
method of aerated static piles. With this method of composting, the Good Earth Company has successfully created a composted material that can be resold and reused
as a soil supplement. The City of Merritt has used this
compost in the past year in many different applications
around the City. Some of the compost was used to top
dress the lawn at the City’s Aquatic Centre, replace the
soil in the downtown tree wells, and as a mulch cover at
the TNRD Recycling Centre.

City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report 21

Leisure Services
2012 Kidz Triathalon – Swimming
Transition to the Bike Staging Area

2012 Achievements
• Successful replacement of the two whirlpools at the Nicola Valley Aquatic Centre
• Successful application for a Canada infrastructure Grant for major upgrades to
the Merritt Civic Centre
• Creation of the first interior of BC PacificSport satellite office in partnership with
PacificSport
• Reviewed alternative operating arrangements for the Claybanks RV Park in
the context of obtaining the best value for the local taxpayers
• Completed the Central Park Conceptual Plan
• Completed improvements to City Council Chambers, including progress
towards the live-streaming of Council meetings
Prepared By
Larry Plotnikoff,
Leisure Services Manager

• Enhanced the Department’s participation and involvement in several events,
including Rivers Day, Canada Day, Teen Nights and Kidz Triathlon
• Worked with outside promoters to bring other special events into the community
• Continuing development of the partnership with the local Arts community to
enhance and develop the arts related programming and events through the
Leisure Services Department
• Ongoing development of the gymnastics program with the longer term goal of
creating a self-sustaining local sports organization
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‘‘

Mission Statement – To provide programs, services,
educational opportunities and information to the public and to provide
a safe, clean, healthy and friendly environment

’’

2012 Teen Night at the NVAC and
Skateboard Demonstration at the 2012
Canada Day Celebrations – Merritt Skatepark

Goals for 2013
Commence Phase I Upgrades for the Central Park Project
Complete:
• The upgrades to the Merritt Civic Centre
• Fees and charges review for City facilities
and recommend changes where necessary
• Operational reviews and recommendations of
various City facility service providers
Continue To:
• Develop partnerships to enhance and improve
program offerings in the community
• Enhance existing special events while
exploring other special event opportunities
• Work on improving existing facility
infrastructure
• Establish a formal joint-use agreement with
School District No. 58
The primary function of the City of Merritt’s Leisure Services Department is to provide recreational related opportunities to the citizens of the Merritt area. The Department’s
mission statement, “To provide programs, services, educational opportunities and information to the public, and
to provide a safe, clean, healthy and friendly environment”, reflects the Leisure Services Department’s determination to provide local citizens with the best services,
programs, facilities at the best possible value.
The Leisure Services Department consists of eight permanent staff and approximately 30 other casual staff and
contracted instructors. The Department provides a variety of programs based out of the City owned facilities,
www.merritt.ca

City parks, and local schools. Programs are geared towards all age groups and consist of both physically
active programs and more passive pursuits.
The City participates in a variety of special events in the
community. While some of these events are coordinated
and delivered exclusively by the City’s Leisure Services
Department, many of the events are a collaborative effort
with local community groups and organizations, and
would simply not be possible without the cooperation
and support of those organizations.

The Leisure Services Department not only
provides recreational programs and services
to the community, but is also responsible for
many of the physical assets of the City,
particularly most of its public facilities

Merritt Civic Centre
Nicola Valley Aquatic Centre
Nicola Valley Memorial Arena
Merritt Cadet Hall
Merritt City Hall
Spirit Square Building & Bandshell
Rotary, Central, Voght & Lions Parks Washrooms
Rotary Park Bandshell
Nicola Valley Museum and Seniors Centre
Merritt Lawn Bowling Clubhouse
Claybanks RV Park

City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report 23

Leisure Services

In addition, the Department is responsible for the administration and negotiation of several contracts whose activities take place on City owned property or lands. These
include; the Merritt Provincial Courthouse, Merritt Golf
and Country Club, Merritt Curling Rink, Merritt Tennis
Courts, the Merritt Youth Centre and the office rental
suites located at Merritt City Hall.
Some of the 2012 undertakings by the Leisure Services
Department included:
Central Park Conceptual Plan – This project was initiated
by local user groups who wanted to work towards a
process to identify and prioritize future improvements in
the City’s active playing parks, Central and Voght. The
City created the Outdoor Recreational Facilities Users
Committee to work towards that end. The Committee
members were appointed by City Council and included
representation from local sports organizations such as
Minor Soccer, Minor Softball, Minor Lacrosse, and Merritt
Slow-Pitch as well as the local community. The Committee identified the needed improvements and created a priority list for implementation of those items. The result of
this process was that a conceptual plan was created,
along with cost estimates and the priorities identified for a
phased in approach for the various components. An open24 City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report

house was held early in the fall of 2012 with approximately
70 people in attendance. The overall response was largely
positive for the project and Phase 1 (a lacrosse box and a
new washroom/concession building) was approved by
City Council as part of the 2013 Capital Plan. Other key
components of the plan include the development of a
large multi-use soccer field, the addition of lights on ball
fields 3 and 4, completion of the walking trail through central Park to Rotary Park, improved Central Park parking,
and the development of a proper oval-shaped, shale walking/running track at Voght Park. It is anticipated that the
remaining phases of the plan will be implemented within
the next three to five years.
Merritt Civic Centre Upgrades – The Merritt Civic Centre
has been a vital part of the community since it opened its
doors 24 years ago. Due to normal wear and tear the facility required some significant upgrades in order to continue to provide the maximum benefit to the local
community. Several areas of the facility were identified
as requiring significant upgrades including the kitchen,
the wooden flooring in the auditorium, facility lighting,
the electrical wiring, washrooms, divider curtain and the
audio-visual system. The goal was to provide the improvements to the facility in order to increase its marketability as a meeting/small conference centre, and to
www.merritt.ca
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The Merritt Civic Centre has been a vital part of the community
since it opened its doors 24 years ago

continue to provide the community with a proper, wellequipped community centre for a wide variety of local
events such as weddings, business meetings, workshops, programs, community events and concerts. The
City was successful in securing a Building Canada Infrastructure Grant from the Federal Government and
commenced work on the project in late 2012.
To date, roughly 60% of the project is complete. It is anticipated that the project will be concluded in late summer 2013.
Special Events
NVAC Teen Nights – One of the goals of the Leisure
Services Department for 2012 was the creation of regular
programs for youth between the ages of 13 and18. Staff
worked with a group of youth to come up with a concept
for a program that youth might be interested in attending.
The result was the NVAC Teen Night. This programmed
www.merritt.ca
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event is held about once a month and is exclusively for
teenage youth. The program is run after normal operating hours on a Friday night, and includes the youth utilizing the facility as they would like to see it – lights
dimmed low, fun games, good music, affordable food,
and a lot of energy. The event is regularly sponsored by
the local business community who help defray the costs
of extra staffing and keeping the food prices affordable.
The program has attracted anywhere from 40 to 100 youth
on any given night, and continues to help give some of
our young people in the community a safe and fun place
to socialize.
The Leisure Services Department will continue to work
diligently to ensure the City’s public facilities continue to
be maintained to a high degree of standard and that
recreational services are provided at a high quality and
cost efficient manner.
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Fire Rescue Services

Pride and Ownership
To the Merritt Fire Rescue Department, there is nothing more important than the
community we serve, and the men and women of this fine organization recognize
their responsibility to help ensure the safety of our citizens. In that regard, the
department’s core values has been bestowed upon every member.
For over 100 years, our Department has strived to adapt and change as the risks,
threats, and challenges to the community have changed. It is our belief that our
greatest asset in carrying out our mission is our team of hard-working volunteers,
dedicated to the delivery of a quality public safety service.

Prepared By
David A. Tomkinson,
Fire Chief

As you read through this year’s report at any given time there may be firefighters
helping our community or preparing to do so at a moment’s notice. Our hope is you
won’t need the response of our emergency work force. If you do, rest assured you will
see a highly trained, competent, and diverse team. Our firefighters will aid you and
your loved ones any day, at any hour.
I.M.P.R.E.S.S. Core Values
Integrity, Mentoring, People, Response,
Empathy, Service and Safety
‘‘The Merritt Fire Rescue Department
promotes harmony, fellowship and
opportunity. We are proudly different
and have achieved success by
focusing on our core values – ideals to
which we are committed’’
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I.M.P.R.E.S.S. Model Values
Protecting our community through
response to emergencies while give
peace of mind.
We are passionate about our familes,
our members and the the safety of
our community.
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We are dedicated to educating the community and youth
to promote awareness, safety and the prevention of fires

Our Family, Helping Your Family
The Merritt Fire Rescue Department (MFRD) is responsible for community safety in many ways. Responding to
and mitigating emergency situations to protect life and
property, minimize damage, injury or loss, and doing so
as quickly and effectively as possible is the primary
focus of our service. In non-emergency times, the Merritt
Fire Rescue Department focuses on fire and life safety
public education, legislative and bylaw compliance and
firefighter training. More specifically the Merritt Fire
Rescue Department provides:
• Fire Responder medical services
• Fire suppression, fire safety inspections,
and fire cause investigations
• Road rescue and motor vehicle incident responses
• Public education and community relations
• Limited hazardous materials response
• Municipal Emergency Program management
• Fire Service Work Experience Program

”

disciplines totaling more than 2,498 staff hours of regular
training conducted on Monday evenings and every weekday afternoon in an effort to accommodate shift workers.
This system ensures that all training disciplines are
scheduled and completed regularly to meet operational
needs and increase the continuity and standardization of
training.
The Department’s Training Division organized many
specialized training events in addition to regular training
for individual firefighters. These additional events
increased the total time committed to training by an
additional 1,787 hours, increasing the department’s total
training hours to 4,285.

The Fire Department is staffed by 30 paid on-call fire
fighters, three full-time officers and five live-in Work
Experience Program firefighters.

Additional training events included:
• Auto Extrication Level II
• Confined Space Rescue Awareness
• Strategies and Tactics
• Live Fire I/II
• Frontline Leadership
• Pumps and Pumping
• First Responder Level III with Spinal and
AED Endorsements

Firefighter Training
MFRD firefighters train to the National Fire Protection
Association 1001 Standard. The program is administered
in-house through the College of the Rockies. Additional
training, including specialized and technical instruction,
is typically provided by the Justice Institute of British
Columbia Fire Academy (JIBC). In 2012, the MFRD Training Division was busy with the on-going maintenance of
firefighter skills along with the development of new

Fire Fleet
The Merritt Fire Rescue Department maintains a fleet of
two engines, one ladder truck, one rescue truck and one
wild-land fire engine. These assets are housed in a single
fire station. The department maintains three administrative
vehicles to carry out fire prevention, training, inspection
and response duties. The City has a capital reserve
which it funds annually to ensure that the fire fleet is not
rendered obsolete over time.

www.merritt.ca
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Fire Rescue Services
Fire Prevention and Inspection
The MFRD completed 260 fire safety inspections of public
buildings within the community in 2012, as required by
the Provincial Fire Service Act. MFRD reviews building
plans from a fire safety perspective in all new developments and commercial buildings as a member of the
City’s Technical Planning Committee.
The MFRD is responsible to enforce regulations and legislation including the BC Fire Code, local Municipal Bylaws
and parts of the BC Building Code.
Public Education
It is estimated that the MFRD was able to connect with
nearly 2,500 persons (pre-school, K to Grade 4, teens, adult
learners and seniors) in fire prevention and life safety activities and events in 2012. The department offered education and prevention programs related to Fire Extinguisher
Training, Juvenile Fire Setter Intervention, Fire Life Safety
House, National Fire Prevention Week, Fire Station Tours,
Fire Chief for a Day, FireSmart Communities and other
seasonal fire safety and injury prevention initiatives.
Fire Prevention Week
Fire Prevention Week is celebrated with much fanfare by
the MFRD and includes the set-up of fire prevention and
safety information displays at local businesses.
The displays are staffed by firefighters for the entire week.
Public service announcements are broadcast by local radio
and television. In addition, fire safety articles and ads are
published within the Merritt Herald.

and what is a toy, while parents are reminded how to reduce the risk of burn injuries in their homes.
Fire Chief for a Day
This initiative encourages children to develop and practice a home fire escape plan with their entire family.
To participate children submit their family’s fire escape
plan to their school. A student from a local elementary
school is chosen to be “Fire Chief for a Day”.
The child is picked up by the fire engine from their classroom and taken to the fire station where they spend time
learning about the firefighting equipment and have an
opportunity to direct firefighters. Afterwards they are
treated to lunch with the Fire Chief and his firefighters,
sponsored by McDonald’s.
Firefighter Recruitment
In 2012, three paid-on-call firefighters left our service;
however, the department was fortunate to have four individuals step forward to serve their community as paid-oncall firefighters.
New recruits complete 80 hours of in-house training during their probation in addition to 16 hours of live fire training, and the completion of several firefighter training
subjects which meet the NFPA 1001 Standard. During probation new firefighters actively respond to emergencies
as members of their platoon and are mentored by senior
firefighters.
Firefighter Work Experience Program
2012 saw the completion of the MFRD’s fifth Firefighter
Service Work Experience Program (WEP). The program
was developed in response to the department’s decreasing ability to provide service as the demand for service
increases, with the most notable demand being the abil

Additionally, for the past six years, a special partnership
has been struck with the local school district; firefighters
team up with Grade 11 and 12 drama students from
Merritt Senior Secondary School to produce interactive fire safety performances, dubbed the
BUDGET
Stop, Drop and Roll Tour. The performance is
designed for audiences of school children in
Actual Operating Costs
Grades 2, 3 and 4. These performances have
received the accolades of both children and
Population Estimate (BC Stats)
teachers and offer the MFRD a unique opportunity to present our fire safety message.
Per Capita Cost
Burn Awareness Week
The focus of the MFRD during Burn Awareness
Week is to engage pre-school and kindergarten
aged children and their parents, delivering a
message of Burn Prevention. Children are
taught the difference between what is a tool
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2012

2011

2010

$598,464

$601,433

$566,955

7155

7230

7285

$83.64

$83.18

$77.82

Paid-On-Call Firefighter
Remuneration

$141,676

$108,468

$119,175

Paid-On-Call Firefighter Hours

8031

8138

8099

Emergency Responses

341

354

343
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“Fire Chief for a Day”
The child is picked up by the fire engine from their classroom and taken to the
fire station where they spend time learning about the firefighting equipment
and have an opportunity to direct firefighters.

2012 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
Firefighter Turn-out Gear

$12,000

Fire Hose

$12,000

Fire Station Exhaust System

$11,500

Concrete Apron – Fire Station

$ 7,000

SCBA Cylinders

$ 6,000

ity to provide response during daytime working hours.
This is a result of a change in our socio-economic conditions leaving our society less time and desire to volunteer.
WEP attracts candidates from the many fire academies/
colleges from across Canada. Successful candidates arrive
certified to the National Fire Protection Association’s 1001
Firefighter Standard. Many bring previous firefighting experience from their volunteer firefighting backgrounds.
WEP firefighters live at the
fire station, supplementing
the response of the City’s
volunteer (paid-on-call) firefighters.
During working hours WEP
firefighters assist career
staff by conducting public
fire safety education, performing Company Level
Fire Inspections and conducting station and equipment maintenance. The
Work Experience Program
bridges the gap between the career and volunteer fire
services, offering the citizens of Merritt a higher level of
service. Most WEP firefighters are hired from the Program to career fire departments.
Emergency Program
In 2012, the MFRD acquired the responsibility for the administration of the City of Merritt’s Emergency Plan. A
complete review of the existing plan was undertaken and
the new plan sits in draft form awaiting review of various
agencies. In addition, an Airport Emergency Response
Plan was authored and awaits adoption.
Looking Towards 2013
For the Merritt Fire Rescue Department, the operational
tempo for 2013 is expected to mimic that of 2012 with the
exception of an expected increase in call volume due to
www.merritt.ca

the full realization of First Responder Program launch. In
an effort to enhance emergency pre-hospital care in our
community, firefighters respond to specific medical emergencies when the Provincial Ambulance Service is delayed. Merritt Firefighters are trained and equipped to
deal with critical situations involving airway, breathing
and/or circulation concerns.
A goal of 2013 is to increase the focus towards pre-fire
planning of major industrial sites within our community
and to work with their staff to ensure their emergency
preparedness. Since being delegated the management
of the Municipal Emergency Program in 2012, we expect
the demand for training, planning, input, project management and public education to increase as the program develops.
The Training Division will focus their efforts on expanding firefighter knowledge through technical instruction
beyond that of the regular training program. The department intends to host
courses pertaining to Confined Space Rescue, Swift
Water Awareness, Elevator
Rescue, and Incident Safety
Officer and complete the
certification of additional
Medical First Responders.
Major purchases in the 2013
year include hydraulic rescue tools and fire hose. Additionally, the department
will adhere to its regular
scheduled replacement of
firefighter turn-out gear. No major apparatus purchases
are scheduled in 2013.
The continuation of the Fire Service Work Experience
Program (WEP) is considered a priority to ensure an
adequate level of service is provided. WEP firefighters
enhance the response of the City’s paid-on-call firefighters who find themselves with less time available to respond to emergencies during day-time working hours.
The MFRD is confident the WEP will remain viable in future years; constant interest is expressed by candidates
willing to relocate to the City of Merritt after completing
training in various fire academies/colleges across
Canada. Their efforts are focused on gaining firefighting
experience as they pursue a career in the fire service.
The WEP continues to offer the citizens of Merritt an enhanced level of service at a nominal cost.
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Planning & Development
In 2012, the Planner worked with the
Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure to vastly improve the Nicola
Avenue crossing at Garcia Street with
modern LED lighting.

The City of Merritt Planning Department
is pleased to present this report on the activities of the department for the year 2012,
including a preview of the goals and objectives for 2013.
Starting off from a personnel perspective, the department had success in professional development with the City’s Planning Department now strengthened by having a Registered Professional Planner in its ranks. The Planner was also tasked with
the Provincial Land Act role of Deputy Approving Officer in 2012.
One key achievement in 2012 was the boundary expansion, an addition of more
than 138 hectares to the City of Merritt, thus increasing opportunities for growth and
development.
Prepared by
Sean O’Flaherty,
Planning & Development
Services Officer

Other key projects and initiatives falling under the Planning Department include:
the development and marketing of the airport lands, and in particular the successful
landing of a major tenant - the province’s Wildfire Training Centre; the careful progression of the Merritt Green Energy project; substantive progress on the Gateway
286 development; the Kinder Morgan twinning project; the BC Hydro substation; and
many others.
A new aerial orthophoto was flown in 2012 giving the City more options for land use
analysis, change detection, mapping and plotting, and other spatial needs.
The Planning Department was successful in negotiating half of the cost of acquiring
the new imagery with our data sharing partners, BC Assessment.
The Geographic Information System (GIS) continues to be a valuable tool for land
based queries. The data currency improves with time as we continually add field
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The department has plans for improved connectivity of our existing
pathways and is planning for more active transportation options

Before

’’

After: 2.0 m Wide Asphalt Trail, Crosswalk Painting,
Post Mounted SIgnage & Painted Symbols on Asphalt

data to the system making it an invaluable source to
track history, manage the present, and plan for the future.
It is an integral part of the City’s PSAB 3150 obligations.
The hope for 2013 is that our GIS will be deployed as a
public web map so that our citizens have access to mapping information. The other hope is that we can integrate
more systems with the GIS such as MAIS and building
permits in order to fully achieve the efficiencies and benefits of GIS.

call requests were approximately double that amount.
This is a public service role and we routinely assist taxpayers and developers alike in navigating regulations.

The Technical Planning Committee (TPC) meetings were
held weekly. The TPC contributes a thorough review of
growth and development related projects in the City with
perspectives from a broad cross-section of departments.
This helps in decision making at an operational level
and furthermore, provides a cohesive approach in advising Council with staff recommendations.

The Planning Department will continue to assist economic
development as well as support the land-related regulatory fabric of existing business, industry, and residential
uses for the overall benefit of all the citizens of Merritt.
We will strive to continue laying the groundwork for the
success of current and future business, and continue to
improve the livability of the City for its inhabitants.

The department provided technical advice and land-related support procedures for statutory right-of-way acquisitions, crown land leases, Agricultural land use
exemptions, mapping and GIS, and management plans
for projects such as the North-Bench project, Gateway 286,
Independent Power Producers (IPPs), BC Hydro upgrade
projects, City of Merritt boundary expansions, and other
capital infrastructure projects.

The Planning and Development Services Department will
continue to look for possible safety enhancements in the
City, particularly for the safe movement of people based
on the Official Community Plan’s goal for more self-propelled movement or active transportation. This includes
safe pedestrian crossings. In 2012, the Planner worked
with the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure to
vastly improve the Nicola Avenue crossing at Garcia
Street with modern LED lighting. The department also
has plans for connectivity on our existing pathways and
planning for future connections. The BC Hydro Substation
Project will also involve a multi-use path under the new
transmission lines. Preliminary design work has been
completed on this multi-use path that will eventually
connect DeWolf with downtown Merritt.

The Planning Department presented approximately 20
reports before Council including zoning amendments,
road closure/dispositions, and development permits.
There were four subdivision applications and one variance application. Approximately one thousand email
requests for information were processed and telephone
www.merritt.ca

Looking forward into 2013, the update to the City’s Zoning
Bylaw will be completed after over a year in progress, on
a bylaw that is ten years old. This will subsequently be
followed by an update to the Development Cost Charge
Bylaw and the Subdivision and Development bylaw.
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Community Policing Office

The Community Policing Office
It was nearly two centuries ago that the famed Sir Robert Peel noted the importance
of an organic connection between the police and the communities they serve. He
wrote, “The police are the public and the public are the police.” This phrase, which
encompasses notions of partnership, collaboration, transparency and accountability,
is at the core of the idea of community policing. The intention of the Community Police Office (CPO) is to partner with the public, rather than merely act as a liaison, to
achieve its mandate, consisting of education, intervention, reduction and prevention. In essence, this partnership between the City of Merritt and the RCMP is about
helping to create a healthy community.
Submitted by Ryan Reid,
Interim Community
Police Office Coordinator

Asset Development Committee: The Asset Development Committee is a youth
driven initiative that focuses on increasing developmental assets in the community.
This is based on research by the Search Institute that identifies 40 developmental
assets that are associated with positive outcomes for youth.
Crime Stoppers Merritt and Nicola Valley: The Crime Stoppers board meets regularly at the CPO and organizes events to promote awareness and raise money for tip
payouts to assist the RCMP in solving crimes in this community.

Literacy Merritt: The CPO participates on the board of Literacy Merritt, which meets
regularly to identify and address literacy issues in the community. Literacy skills
are highly related to education and employment outcomes, which are major determi
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The police are the public and the public are the police

nants of criminal activities and social problems related
to crime. Literacy Merritt is involved in adult literacy
programs to aid with employment, fostering connections
between youth and seniors, one on one tutoring in
schools and increasing the love of, and access to, books
to people from all walks of life in the community. The
Bright Red Bookshelf program, which provides free books
at various locations in the community, is housed in the
CPO office.
Smart Step Youth Association: The CPO has been working with the Smart Step Youth Association since its inception. It is a youth driven initiative that provides
opportunities for increasing developmental assets
among the youth in the community. It is also a practical
means for young people to challenge stereotypes and
negative perceptions of youth in the community through
active volunteerism. Over 80 youth participated in the
program in 2012.
Speed Watch: Speed Watch is a volunteer program in
partnership with the RCMP and ICBC that increases public awareness in regard to safe driving practices generally, and the issue of speeding particularly. The CPO
assists with volunteer training, logistics, scheduling, and
houses equipment for the program. The program targets
problem areas and records valuable information in an effort to make roadways in the community and surrounding
area safer for everyone concerned.
Block Watch: Block Watch is a program that unifies neighborhoods in our community around the common goals of
safe communities and crime reduction. The CPO provides
training and coordination to set up Block Watch communities and stores information recorded by these groups.
School Outreach: The CPO was involved in a number of
school outreach initiatives in 2012. Aside from participating in special events and fun days at local schools,
which serve to foster a healthy connection between the
community and youth, there were several educational
initiatives that the CPO directly participated in. Every
elementary school in the district was visited by the
CPO in order to provide education on the Protecting My
Property booklet and distribute these booklets in the
community. The CPO was invited into Merritt Secondary School (MSS) to give a series of one hour presentations on the topic of bullying and the law. Drawn from
RCMP and scholarly material, a presentation was formulated and eleven one hour sessions were presented
at MSS, so that every Grade 8 and 9 student in the school
would have participated. The CPO is already engaged
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to participate in two educational initiatives in 2013.
Social Planning Council: The Social Planning Council
began approximately five years ago as the brainchild of
a crime prevention symposium held at the Civic Center.
The group’s mandate is to address crime prevention
through social development in areas such as
housing/homelessness, addiction/substance use, poverty
reduction and food security. The Housing Task Group
and Food Security Task Group are actively working in
their respective areas and began as subcommittees of
the Social Planning Council.
Housing Task Group: The Housing Task Group has been
running an extreme weather shelter for the past five
years from the beginning of December until the end of
March. For the past two years, the shelter was open
every night during that time period, from 5 p.m. until 8
a.m. the following day. This facility is staffed primarily
by trained volunteers. For the 2012-2013 cold weather
season, the service was accessed 596 times by 66 different individuals. The Housing Task Group is also concerned with the bigger picture of sustainable housing in
Merritt and the Nicola Valley.
Food Security Task Group: The Food Security Task Group
began as a subcommittee of the Social Planning Council
and has recently focused on creating a community garden in Merritt. The CPO is very involved with this group
and progress on the goal of creating a community garden
is well underway. A site has been procured on the endowment lands near the Merritt Hospital. Physical work
at the site has begun and the garden is expected to be
open in the spring of 2013.

OCCURENCES
Occurrences January – December 2012
Assistance to the Public

567

Community Initiatives

537

Referrals to Other Agencies

85

Drunk in Public Place

28

Volunteer Inquiries

90

Police Files

31

Lost/ Found Property

43

TOTAL WALK-IN CPO VISITS WHERE ASSISTANCE
WAS PROVIDED: 1381
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Economic Development

Introduction
2012 was the second year of operation for The City of Merritt Economic Development
(ED) Department. The City assumed operational control and began to develop economic development functions to complement pre-existing services that were being
offered to current and potential new investors in the City. Throughout the year,
significant progress was made in establishing new roles for the City of Merritt to
undertake in the delivery of service to the community. The Department established
innovative ways to eliminate red tape at City Hall for citizens and developers who
wished to pursue investment opportunities in the community and the region.
These strategies continue to alleviate the challenges of developing and implementing programs and projects that relate to the long-term strategic direction of the
Official Community Plan (OCP).

James Umpherson,
ED Manager

Economic development for the City continues to be based on the vision, mission,
guiding principles, and OCP directives. This approach ensures sustainability
through growth, financial stability, infrastructure investments, quality of life,
and visitor attractiveness.
To fulfill its mandate, the ED Department works in partnership with business, industry associations, other City departments, regional partners and other governments
to provide quality information, increase the growth and competitiveness of valueadded sectors, facilitate economic development, attract investment, and promote
tourism. The focus has been to attract new investment, create partnerships,
networks and alliances, provide strategic market intelligence, showcase Merritt,
and promote established and emerging industries.
Our ED Department works to coordinate the efforts of the community to maintain and strengthen our economic climate, and solve community problems through community action.
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Economic development for the City continues to be based on
the vision, mission, guiding principles
and Official Community Plan directives

We provide better understanding of forces that affect our
economic climate, industry trends, sector strengths and a
broad understanding of the economic opportunities and
advantages that exist in our community.
Economic development is a catalyst through which economic activity is encouraged and where partnerships
with community, industry, agriculture, and the professional community work together for the common good.
The ED Department works to build on the community’s
capacity to ensure the economic condition continues to
flourish, where business, industry, and others are willing
to risk resources to achieve success in their ventures.
It is our mandate to create an environment in which they
can achieve success.
Background
It is important for elected officials, administration, business, industry, community organizations, and citizens at
large to understand how our ED Department operates in
support of the City’s long term goals.
Our model for economic development is about building
on the existing capacity of the community for sustainability. Becoming a sustainable community means gaining
economic self-reliance, becoming ecologically sustainable, empowering community members to make decisions affecting their community, workplace, and daily
lives, and meeting the needs of individual citizens. This
approach must be pursued if we are to achieve sustainability and overcome our geographic proximity to larger
centres, mitigate the local networks of competition, support our limited population base, address the boom-bust
cycle of a resource dependent small City economy and
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our lack of economic diversity, and fulfill unrealized
potential for the community.
The ED Department is committed to capitalizing on
strengths to encourage economic growth and preserving
our prosperity. We are here to support the routes to growth
by providing information and strategic advice to business
and industry, and working with our partners to identify
and pursue economic development opportunities.
A Year In Review: 2012
The year 2012 has set the stage for the opportunities
and development initiatives that will come as a result
of opportunities that have been nurtured throughout the
entire year.
The ED Department developed a base economic development strategy that has been tested on development
initiatives throughout 2012. These strategies, resulting in
some significant successes that will manifest themselves
in 2013, were established and based on information resulting from reviews of the Merritt Integrative Growth
Strategy, Merritt Tourism Plan, work with TOTA, Cultural
Mapping Project, Airport Development Plan, Gateway 286
Development Opportunity Plan, City Centre Improvement
Plan, City of Merritt Strategic Plan, Tourism Audit and
Gap Analysis, and the OCP.
Business Development
Business development in 2012 was strong. Merritt saw 616
business licences issued during the fiscal year, with many
others in the system that came on stream in early 2013. These
businesses range from commercial, retail, construction,
services, technology, non-profit, and industrial businesses.
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Economic Development
The department continues to work and collaborate with
other City departments on projects that will be completed
in 2013 and 2014. These include industry and infrastructure
development, hotel/motel developments, new land development, new retail space, commercial space and general
business development. In the area of industry and infrastructure development, the City of Merritt continues to foster and collaborate with business in development of the
BC Hydro Substation, Transformer and Power Upgrade, the
Interior-Lower Mainland (ILM) Upgrade, the completion of
the Shaw Cable Upgrade, fiber optic cable upgrades, and
development of a private sector cogeneration alternative
energy project called Merritt Green Energy (MGE).
In support of infrastructure, several new development projects were underway during 2012, many of which should be
completed in 2013/14. The City has completed the airport
development project of which Forestry has leased five lots.
They expect to finish construction of the Merritt Fire Centre in 2013. We continue to negotiate on the North Bench
property for future commercial and residential development. Private sector developments include subdivision
developments for industrial and residential projects.
Airport Development
ED continues to work towards expanding local capacity at the
Merritt airport. We are in discussions with the private sector to
achieve long-term viability of the airport through long-term
leasing, purchases, and infrastructure development.
Other Economic and Business Developments
We continue to encourage a variety of industries interested in relocating to Merritt including environmentally
friendly energy development, hotel and retail development, the construction industry, and warehouse distribution development. We have plans to acquire property that
will make more affordable housing available for the families and to work with business persons who are exploring
Merritt as a place to make their home.
Tourism and Branding
In 2012, the ED Department continued our work with Gold
Country and the Merritt Heritage Society to market Merritt
throughout the region.
In addition to these contract renewals, our branding tools
and approaches were reviewed for their effectiveness.
We successfully launched a new and enhanced website in
2012. The trademark and licencing, graphic artwork, and
copyright were reviewed and we have pursued and established registration and ownership of these rights. Some
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gaps were identified and there is still a great deal of work
to be completed in tourism and marketing.
Looking To the Future
Since the move to incorporate ED functions into the City’s
overall administration operations, a key focus is to map
out a plan for the continued long-term sustainability of
the community’s economy.
Strategic Development
The cornerstone to long-term economic prosperity is the
establishment and implementation of an economic development strategy that focuses on the building blocks of
community. These include business development, workforce development, physical infrastructure, social infrastructure, cultural and environmental stewardship, and
civic infrastructure.
The strategy document proposes three phases of
economic development activity for the City of Merritt
covering the period 2012 through 2016.
Phase I: Focuses on ensuring Merritt retains and
hances the economic and industry sectors that are
currently in Merritt.
Phase II: Leverages Merritt’s existing economic capacity
to prepare for business expansion and attraction.
Phase III: Designed to complement existing businesses
with efforts to bring in synergistic new businesses.
Each phase builds on the previous, and once completed,
is designed to include components that will continue in
perpetuity. The entire approach is predicated on the
recognition that economic development successes will
come primarily from capacities that already exist in
Merritt, and that future growth will be mostly synergistic
with existing sectors.
A Final Word: Building From Within to Succeed Into the Future
All of these elements are the foundation of understanding
and mapping out a future direction, strategy, and approach for the City of Merritt. The ED Department’s goal is
to build on the existing capacities that will open up future
economic initiatives for the City. By developing and implementing these initiatives, they will provide the foundation for building capacity for the City’s long-term
economic development viability. Once planning, programs and certain projects are in place, the strategy will
ensure a leadership that builds from within, grounded in
the existing capacities, paving the way to success for existing and future citizens of Merritt.
www.merritt.ca

Corporate Services

In 2012 the Corporate Services Department prepared
agendas and minutes, and attended 65 meetings
of Council and ten budget meetings.
In addition, the Committee Clerk was responsible
for the preparation of agendas and minutes for nine
committees.
Council considered and adopted 14 bylaws,
with one new major bylawThe Revitalization Tax Exemption Program.

Human Resources
Prepared By
Carole Fraser,
Deputy Clerk/
Human Resources Manager

July 2012 marked the inauguration of a Human Resources Department for the
employees of the City of Merritt. The latter part of the year was targeted to
educating employees of the department’s existence and to providing continuity in job postings, new employee package forms and gaining knowledge
about employee extended medical and dental benefits packages and the
Municipal Pension Plan for employees.
The Human Resources Manager attends quarterly meetings of Interior
Municipal Employers and attended the Western Cities Human Resources
conference in Burnaby. These valuable resources contribute to a connection
with peers and education opportunities continue to rise.
Throughout the City, nine new members were added to the City service team
employed in various positions throughout our facilities. This did not result
in an increase to staff compliments but accommodated needs due to staff
turnover. A number of employees received long service awards and there
were no retirees in 2012.

www.merritt.ca
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Management’s Responsibility
For The Financial Statements
The accompanying financial statements of City of Merritt (the "City") are the responsibility of
management and have been prepared in compliance with legislation, and in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles for local governments established by the Public Sector
Accounting Board of The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. The significant accounting
policies are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. The preparation of financial statements
necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management’s judgment, particularly when
transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized with certainty until future
periods.
The City’s management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in
compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is available
on a timely basis for preparation of the financial statements. These systems are monitored and
evaluated by management.
Mayor and Council meet with management and the external auditors to review the financial
statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to the
approval of the financial statements by Council.
The financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent external auditors appointed
by the City. The accompanying Auditors’ Report outlines their responsibilities, the scope of their
examination and their opinion on the City’s financial statements.

Mayor

www.merritt.ca

Financial Services Manager
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Mayor and Council of the City of Merritt
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the City of Merritt (‘‘the City’’), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2012, and the statements of
operations, changes in net debt and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the City’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the City of Merritt as at December 31, 2012, and the results of its operations, changes in net debt and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards.

Chartered Accountants
Kamloops, Canada
May 28, 2013

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.
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Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2012, with comparative information for 2011
2012
Financial assets:
Cash and short-term investments (note 2)
Accounts receivable
- Taxes receivable
- Other
Property subject to redemption

$

Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Employee benefits and other liabilities (note 3)
Deposits and holdbacks payable
Deferred revenue (note 4)
Term debt (note 5)
Obligations under capital leases (note 7)

Net debt

$

1,056,249
1,288,820
226,735
13,033,855

1,208,539
256,126
146,688
5,779,751
7,047,824
424,308
14,863,236

1,517,791
245,252
147,137
5,527,367
5,939,093
268,754
13,645,394
(611,539)

52,205,055
56,493
52,261,548
$

10,462,051

1,253,602
911,545
43,915
14,634,048

(229,188)

Non-financial assets:
Tangible capital assets (note 8)
Prepaid expenses

Accumulated surplus (note 9)

12,424,986

2011

52,032,360

50,656,945
48,232
50,705,177
$

50,093,638

Commitments and contingencies (note 10)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
Financial Services Manager

________________________________________
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Financial Services Manager
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Statement of Operations

Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative information for 2011
Budget
(Unaudited note 15)
Revenues:
Taxation (note 11)
User charges
Government transfers (note 12)
- Provincial
- Federal
- Thompson-Nicola Regional District
Investment income
Penalties and interest on taxes
Developer contributions
Other income
Actuarial adjustment of debt
Total revenues

$

Expenses:
General government
Protective services
Transportation services
Community, environmental and public
health services
Leisure, parks and cultural development
Water utility
Sewer utility
Total expenses
Annual surplus
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year
Accumulated surplus, end of year

$

8,270,759
3,964,470

2012

$

8,330,462
3,979,267

2011

$

8,160,029
3,830,924

1,110,240
151,800
286,600
70,700
115,000
278,830
14,248,399

907,361
1,800
301,250
123,183
133,053
310,565
212,888
14,299,829

1,313,887
1,800
289,100
73,459
160,187
45,000
425,206
187,635
14,487,227

1,885,661
3,123,447
1,072,297

1,840,135
3,072,359
1,827,424

2,107,484
3,057,279
1,395,813

1,093,726
2,230,570
761,910
696,980
10,864,591

1,072,313
2,610,002
1,062,091
876,783
12,361,107

1,158,609
2,411,616
1,047,760
806,819
11,985,380

3,383,808

1,938,722

2,501,847

50,093,638

50,093,638

47,591,791

53,477,446

$

52,032,360

$

50,093,638

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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5

Statement of Changes in Net Debt

Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative information for 2011
Budget
(Unaudited note 15)
Annual surplus
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets

Acquisition of prepaid expenses
Use of prepaid expenses

Change in net debt
Net debt, beginning of year
Net debt, end of year

$

3,383,808
(4,659,041)
(1,275,233)

2012

$

1,938,722
(2,993,191)
1,445,081
390,612

(1,275,233)
(611,539)
$ (1,886,772)

2011

$

(56,493)
48,232
(8,261)

(48,232)
74,265
26,033

382,351

580,147

(611,539)
$

2,501,847
(3,357,135)
1,409,402
554,114

(229,188)

(1,191,686)
$

(611,539)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative information for 2011
2012

2011

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Annual surplus
Items not involving cash:
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets
Developer contributions of tangible capital assets
Actuarial adjustment on debt

$

1,938,722

$

2,501,847

1,445,081
(29,410)
(212,888)

1,409,402
(45,000)
(187,635)

179,922
182,820
(309,253)
10,874
(206,896)
458,832
(8,261)
3,449,543

1,108,125
(78,310)
161,430
24,153
(194,081)
506,615
26,033
5,232,579

(2,745,960)
29,410
(2,716,550)

(3,123,256)
(3,123,256)

Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of term debt
Principal payments on term debt
Principal payments on obligations under capital lease
Net change in cash from financing activities

1,676,956
(355,336)
(91,678)
1,229,942

(355,336)
(53,628)
(408,964)

Increase in cash and short-term investments

1,962,935

1,700,359

10,462,051

8,761,692

Change in non-cash operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Property subject to redemption
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Employee benefits and other liabilities
Deposits and holdbacks payable
Deferred revenue
Prepaid expenses
Net change in cash from operating activities
Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets
Net change in cash from capital activities

Cash and short-term investments, beginning of year
Cash and short-term investments, end of year
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash received from interest
Tangible capital assets acquired by way of capital lease,
not included above

$

12,424,986

$

10,462,051

$

528,822
123,183

$

520,013
122,146

247,231

188,879

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2012

The City of Merritt (the "City") was incorporated on April 1, 1911 under statute of the Province of
British Columbia. The City provides local government services to residents of the incorporated area.
These include general government, police, fire and other protective services, transportation, cemetery,
parks, recreation and cultural services, solid waste disposal, water utility, sewer utility and fiscal
services.

1.

Significant accounting policies:
The financial statements of the City are prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles for governments as prescribed by the Public Sector
Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA").
Significant accounting policies adopted by the City are as follows:
(a) Reporting entity:
(i)

Funds of the City
The financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the
reporting entity. The reporting entity is comprised of all funds of the City, segregated
into general, water utility and sewer utility operating, capital and reserve funds.
The City has not identified any external entities that are owned or whose boards are
controlled by the City and that are accountable to the City for the administration of their
financial affairs and resources; however it is the policy of the City that any such entities
would also form part of the reporting entity.
Inter-departmental transactions and balances between these funds have been
eliminated in the financial statements.

(ii)

Accounting for transactions with other government organizations and boards
The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the
operations of the Thompson-Nicola Regional District, hospital districts and any other
government entities with which the City interacts are not reflected in these financial
statements. Funds collected by the City on behalf of these other entities and
transmitted to them are summarized in note 11. Funds received by the City as
transfers from other government entities are summarized in note 12.

(iii) Trust funds
Trust funds and their related operations administered by the City, which by their nature
are not themselves assets of the City, are not included in these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(b) Basis of accounting:
The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses. Revenues
are recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable. Expenses are
recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods or services
and/or the creation of a legal obligation to pay.
(c) Revenue recognition:
Property taxes, including frontage taxes, parcel taxes and special assessments, are
recognized as revenue in the year in which they are assessable. Water and sewer user
rates, connection fees, sale of services and interest and penalties assessed on taxes are
recognized as revenue in the year the related service is provided and if and when the
amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
Government transfers received or receivable are recognized in the financial statements as
revenue in the period that the event giving rise to the transfer occurs, providing the transfers
are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met, and reasonable estimates of the
amounts can be made.
Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned. When required by the
funding government or related Act, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added
to the investment and forms part of the deferred revenue balance.
(d) Deferred revenue:
Deferred revenue represents grants, development cost charges ("DCCs"), and other fees
which have been collected, but for which the related expenses or services have yet to be
incurred or performed. These amounts will be recognized as revenues in the fiscal year the
services are performed or related expenses incurred.
(e) Cash and short-term investments:
Cash and short-term investments include cash highly liquid investments with a term to
maturity of 90 days or less at acquisition and that are readily convertible to cash.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(f)

Property subject to redemption:
Property subject to redemption is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Cost is defined as the cost deemed paid to acquire the property at tax sale, plus amounts for
improvements to prepare the property for sale or servicing. Net realizable value is defined
as the outstanding taxes receivable by the City on that property, plus land title registry and
other fees payable at the time of the tax sale.

(g) Reserves:
Reserves for operating and capital purposes represent amounts reserved either internally or
by statute for specific future purposes.
(h) Term debt:
Term debt acquired through the Municipal Finance authority ("MFA") is recorded net of
related sinking fund balances. Earnings on sinking fund investments are allocated to the
City as an actuarial adjustment, which is recorded as a revenue and a reduction in the
related debt.
(i)

www.merritt.ca

Employee future benefits:
(i)

The City provides certain employee benefits which will require funding in future periods.
These benefits include sick leave and banked overtime provided to all its unionized
employees. The costs of sick leave and banked overtime arising from past service and
expected to be paid out in a future period have been accrued as a liability and have
been determined using management’s best estimate of salary and utilization rates.
Non-vesting sick leave benefit entitlements in excess of these amounts are accrued
using managements best estimate of the rate at which they will be utilized.

(ii)

The costs of multi-employer defined contribution pension plan benefits, such as the
Provincial Municipal Pension Plan (the "Plan"), are the employer's contributions due to
the plan in the period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(j)

Non-financial assets:
Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in
the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are
not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.
(i)

Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. The
cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, are amortized
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Asset
Land improvements
Buildings and building improvements
Vehicles, machinery and equipment
Roads, bridges and highways
Water utility infrastructure
Sewer utility infrastructure

Useful life, in years
15-40
20-60
3-40
25-150
50-70
60-75

Annual amortization is charged in the year of acquisition and in the year of disposal.
Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for use.
(ii)

Contributions of tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the
date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue.

(iii) Natural resources
Natural resources that have not been purchased are not recognized as assets in the
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

1.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(j)

Non-financial assets (continued):
(iv) Works of art and cultural and historic assets
The City manages and controls various works of art and non-operational historical
cultural assets including paintings and sculptures located at City sites and public
display areas. These assets are not recorded as tangible capital assets and are not
amortized.
(v) Interest capitalization
The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or
construction of a tangible capital asset.
(vi) Leased tangible capital assets
Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership
of property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. All other leases are
accounted for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses
as incurred.

(k) Use of estimates:
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions based on current
conditions and laws that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the estimated useful
lives of tangible capital assets and actuarial valuations of employee future benefits.
Management reviews these estimates on a periodic basis and, where necessary, makes
adjustments prospectively.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

2.

Cash and short-term investments:
Cash and short-term investments reported on the consolidated statement of financial position
have a cost that approximates market value. Cash equivalents consist of investments primarily in
MFA pooled money market funds with an annual rate of return of approximately 1.1% (2011 1.0%).
Restrictions around use of cash and short-term investments are as follows:
2012
Externally restricted:
Statutory reserves (note 9)
Deferred revenues (note 4)

$

Internally restricted:
Non-statutory reserves (note 9)

734,157
5,779,751
6,513,908

2011

$

725,613
5,527,367
6,252,980

4,048,408

2,303,248

10,562,316

8,556,228

1,862,670

1,905,823

Total

$ 12,424,986

$ 10,462,051

Consisting of:
Cash
Short-term investments

$

$

Total

$ 12,424,986

Total restricted
Unrestricted
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8,235,582
4,189,404

5,448,007
5,014,044

$ 10,462,051
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

3.

Employee benefits and other liabilities:
(a) Accumulated sick leave:
The City provides benefits for sick leave to all its unionized employees. All employees
accumulate sick leave entitlement on a monthly basis and can only use this entitlement for
paid time off under certain circumstances. Under the terms of the current collective
agreement, employees earn sick leave benefits at a rate of 1.5 days for every month of
service, which accumulate and carry forward year-to-year, up to a maximum of 180 days per
employee. Upon retirement, employees are entitled to a payout of the accumulated sick
leave benefits based on the number of sick days in their entitlement, as follows:
0-89 days
90-179 days
180 days

nil
2 weeks
4 weeks

The total liability for these retirement benefits recorded on the statement of financial position
in respect of obligation under this plan amounts to $11,275 (2011 - $15,289).
The total sick leave entitlement accumulated to date that is available to employees amounts
to 9,556 hours (2011 - 9,496) or approximately $274,000 (2011 - $270,000).
(b) Pension plans:
The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (the "Plan"), a jointly
trusteed pension plan. The Board of Trustees, representing plan members and employers,
is responsible for overseeing the management of the Plan, including investment of the
assets and administration of benefits. The Plan is a multi-employer contributory pension
plan; basic pension benefits provided are defined. The Plan has about 176,000 (2011 173,000) active members and approximately 67,000 (2011 - 63,000) retired members.
Active members include approximately 35,000 (2011 - 35,000) contributors from local
government.
Every three years an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the
plan and the adequacy of plan funding. The most recent valuation as at December 31, 2009
indicated an unfunded liability of $1.024 billion for basic pension benefits. The next
valuation will be as at December 31, 2012 with results available in the fall of 2013. The
actuary does not attribute portions of the unfunded liability to individual employers. The City
paid $209,113 (2011 - $171,950) for employer contributions to the Plan during the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

4.

Deferred revenue:
The deferred revenue reported on the statement of financial position consists of the following:
2012

2011

Taxes paid in advance
Federal gas tax funds
Development cost charges
Other deferred contributions

$

101,481
1,874,577
3,388,100
415,593

$

50,980
1,542,355
3,218,068
715,964

Total deferred revenue

$

5,779,751

$

5,527,367

Continuity of deferred revenue is as follows:
2012
Balance, beginning of year:
Taxes paid in advance
Federal gas tax funds
Development cost charges
Other deferred contributions

$

Contributions:
Gas tax funding
Development cost charges
Other taxes and contributions
Interest earned
Total receipts
Revenues recognized
Balance, end of year

$

50,980
1,542,355
3,218,068
715,964
5,527,367

2011
$

51,532
1,203,347
2,988,795
777,078
5,020,752

332,222
136,294
249,870
33,738
752,124

339,008
190,792
67,380
38,481
635,661

(499,740)

(129,046)

5,779,751

$

5,527,367

Gas tax funding is provided by the Government of Canada. The use of the funding is established
by a funding agreement between the City and the Union of British Columbia Municipalities. Gas
tax funds may be used towards designated public transit, community energy, water, wastewater,
solid waste and capacity building projects, as specified in the funding agreement.
Development cost charges are amounts received from developers to be used by the City for
specific infrastructure upgrades, improvements and projects. The above amounts have been
deferred and are to be recognized as revenue in the year the related project expenditures are
incurred.
Other deferred contributions include prepaid business licenses, tax sale deposits and other such
events, and deferred capital grants.
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(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

5.

Term debt:
The City issues debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority ("MFA") of British
Columbia, pursuant to term capital borrowing, loan authorization and security issuing bylaws
under authority of Sections 178, 179 and 181 of the Community Charter, to finance certain capital
expenditures.
2012
MFA debt instruments with maturity dates ranging
from May 2013 to April 2032 and bearing interest at
rates ranging from 4.00% to 8.50% per annum

$

7,047,824

2011

$

5,939,093

Total interest on term debt reported in the statement of operations amounted to $529,094 (2011 $520,013).
The term debt issued in the name of the City have been approved by bylaw. The annual principal
and interest payments required to service these liabilities are within the annual debt repayment
limit prescribed by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs.
The total principal payments for the next five years are as follows:

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017

$

336,053
303,240
303,240
303,240
280,477

Scheduled debt repayments may be suspended due to excess sinking fund earnings with MFA.
6.

MFA debt reserve:
As a condition of the MFA borrowings made by the City, and as required by legislation, a debt
reserve fund is maintained in the amount of one-half the average annual instalment of principal
and interest as set out in the agreements entered into. The reserve is funded in part by cash,
being the withholding of 1% of the total issue proceeds, and the remainder being funded by a
demand note whereby the City may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA. Details of
the cash deposits and demand notes on hand at year end are as follows:
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Year ended December 31, 2012

6.

MFA debt reserve (continued):
2012

2011

Cash deposits
Demand notes

$

160,169
334,469

$

171,343
367,959

Total

$

494,638

$

539,302

An allowance has been recorded by the City for the full amount of the above cash deposits
receivable. At the time that specific debt instruments are fully repaid, cash deposits refunded to
the City will be recognized as income and the contingent demand notes voided.

7.

Obligations under capital leases:
The City leases vehicles and other equipment under capital lease agreements with the MFA that
expire between fiscal years 2013 and 2017. Under these agreements, the City is obligated to
make minimum lease payments in each of the fiscal years ending December 31 as follows:
2012

2011

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Total

176,729
89,205
89,205
86,104
17,334
458,577

61,232
124,728
37,204
37,204
34,104
294,472

Less: amount representing interest (at rates
ranging from 2.00% to 4.25% per annum)

(34,269)

(25,718)

424,308 $

268,754

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments

$

Total interest on term debt reported in the statement of operations amounted to $8,555 (2011 $2,436).
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$ 6,354,200

-

Accumulated amortization:
Balance, beginning of year
Amortization expense
Balance, end of year

Net book value, end of year

$ 6,214,485
139,715
6,354,200

$

$

2,622,171

970,014
56,775
1,026,789

2,340,050
1,308,910
3,648,960

Land
Land improvements

Cost:
Balance, beginning of year
Additions
Balance, end of year

2012

Tangible capital assets:

Year ended December 31, 2012

$

6,912,409

6,044,978
305,673
6,350,651

$ 13,058,640
204,420
13,263,060

Buildings
and building
improvements

$

$

4,527,453

4,996,088
468,162
5,464,250

9,226,853
764,850
9,991,703

Vehicles,
machinery and
equipment

$ 13,979,474

8,954,329
366,373
9,320,702

$ 23,300,176
23,300,176

Roads,
bridges, and
highways

$ 13,917,338

4,178,473
248,098
4,426,571

$ 18,343,909
18,343,909

Water
and sewer
infrastructure

$

$

3,892,010

-

3,316,714
575,296
3,892,010

Assets
under
construction

$ 52,205,055

25,143,882
1,445,081
26,588,963

$ 75,800,827
2,993,191
78,794,018

Total
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$ 6,214,485

-

Accumulated amortization:
Balance, beginning of year
Amortization expense
Balance, end of year

Net book value, end of year

$ 6,214,485
6,214,485

Cost:
Balance, beginning of year
Additions
Balance, end of year

2011

$

$

1,370,036

888,755
81,259
970,014

2,218,807
121,243
2,340,050

Land
Land improvements

Tangible capital assets (continued):

Year ended December 31, 2012

$

7,013,662

5,771,829
273,149
6,044,978

$ 12,963,385
95,255
13,058,640

Buildings
and building
improvements

$

$

4,230,765

4,578,760
417,328
4,996,088

8,755,845
471,008
9,226,853

Vehicles,
machinery and
equipment

$ 14,345,847

8,587,488
366,841
8,954,329

$ 22,844,278
455,898
23,300,176

Roads,
bridges, and
highways

$ 14,165,436

3,907,648
270,825
4,178,473

$ 12,402,847
5,941,062
18,343,909

Water
and sewer
infrastructure

$

$

Total

3,316,714

-

$ 50,656,945

23,734,480
1,409,402
25,143,882

7,044,045 $ 72,443,692
(3,727,331)
3,357,135
3,316,714
75,800,827

Assets
under
construction

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended December 31, 2012

8.

Tangible capital assets (continued):
a)

Assets under construction:
Assets under construction have not been amortized. Amortization of these assets will
commence when the asset is put into service. Where projects have been completed during
the year, accumulated costs are reclassified to the appropriate category of asset and
included in related "additions" in the current year.

b)

Contributed tangible capital assets:
The value of contributed assets received during the year is $nil (2011 - $45,000).

d)

Write-down of tangible capital assets:
No write-down in value of tangible capital assets was considered necessary during the year
(2011 - no write-down).
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Year ended December 31, 2012

9.

Accumulated surplus:
Accumulated surplus consists of individual fund surplus and reserve funds as follows:

Surplus:
Invested in tangible capital assets
Unrestricted
Total surplus
Statutory reserves:
Public works
Fire department
Recreation
Sale of city owned lands

Non-statutory reserves set aside for specific
purposes by Council:
Reserve for future expenditures - general
Reserve for future expenditures - water
Reserve for future expenditures - sewer
Reserve for future capital expenditures
Downtown parking reserve
Lease residual payout reserve
Computer equipment replacement reserve
Reserve for contingencies
Other reserves

Total accumulated surplus
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2012

2011

$ 44,732,923
2,516,872
47,249,795

$ 44,449,098
2,615,679
47,064,777

384,019
163,521
103,144
83,473
734,157

378,272
161,897
101,971
83,473
725,613

1,240,147
789,107
646,001
936,670
65,800
165,611
32,673
141,514
30,885
4,048,408

538,688
255,919
366,902
705,257
65,800
165,611
32,673
141,514
30,884
2,303,248

$ 52,032,360

$ 50,093,638
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

10. Commitments and contingencies:
(a) As a member of the Thompson-Nicola Regional District, the City is liable for its proportion of
any operating deficits or long-term debt related to functions in which it participates.
(b) From time to time the City is brought forth as a defendant in various lawsuits. The City
reviews its exposure to any potential litigation for which it would not be covered by insurance
and assesses whether a successful claim would materially affect the financial statements of
the City. The City is currently not aware of any claims brought against it that if not defended
successfully would result in a material change to the financial statements.
(c) The City is a participant in the Municipal Insurance Association of British Columbia. Should
the Association pay out claims in excess of premiums received, it is possible the City, along
with the other participants, would be required to contribute towards the deficit.
(d) The City entered into a long-term contract with the RCMP for the provision of police services
effective October 1, 1994. Under the terms of this contract, the City is responsible for 70% of
policing costs. The estimated cost of this contract for 2013 is $1,756,000

11. Taxation:
Taxation revenue, reported on the statement of operations, consists of the following:

Municipal and school property taxes levied
Payments-in-lieu of property and business taxes

2012

2011

$ 12,668,379
129,812
12,798,191

$ 12,321,032
110,220
12,431,252

1,388,096
2,677,513
326,478
75,432
210
4,467,729

1,323,048
2,640,989
232,554
74,428
204
4,271,223

Less collection on behalf of other governments:
Thompson-Nicola Regional District ("TNRD")
Province of B.C. - school taxes
Thompson Regional Hospital District
B.C. Assessment Authority
MFA

Net taxation revenue available for municipal purposes
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$

8,330,462

$

8,160,029
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Year ended December 31, 2012

12. Government transfers:
The City recognizes transfers from other governments as revenues in the period that the events
giving rise to the transfer occurred. The Government transfers reported on the statement of
operations are:
2012
Provincial grants:
BC Small Community Investment
West Nile Assistance
Community Tourism Grant
Air Quality Study
Government Grants - General
Carbon Tax (CARIP)
BC Assessment
Planning department grant
Miscellaneous
Subtotal provincial grants

$

Federal grants:
Canada Day Celebration
Subtotal federal grants
TNRD:
Aquatic Centre
Fire Protection
Recreation
Transit
Subtotal TNRD grants
Total government transfer revenue

$

839,209
8,250
13,745
5,578
16,933
8,000
15,646
907,361

2011
$

824,104
24,750
9,854
7,966
440,352
6,861
1,313,887

1,800
1,800

1,800
1,800

182,000
58,000
56,250
5,000
301,250

173,250
56,250
54,600
5,000
289,100

1,210,411

$

1,604,787

13. Trust funds:
The City operates the Pine Ridge Cemetery and maintains a cemetery perpetual care fund in
accordance with the Cremation, Internment and Funeral Services Act of British Columbia. These
funds held in trust and administered by the City have not been included in the statement of
financial position nor have their operations been included in the statement of operations, as they
are held in trust only on behalf of other beneficial parties. The balance of the funds held in trust is
$100,037 (2011 - $98,900).
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(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

14. Segmented information:
Segmented information has been identified based upon lines of service provided by the City. City
services are provided by departments and their activities are reported by functional area in the
body of the financial statements. Certain lines of service that have been separately disclosed in
the segmented information, along with the services they provide, are as follows:
(a) General government:
General government operations provide the functions of corporate administration, finance,
human resources, legislative services, building services and maintenance, and any other
functions not categorized to a specific department.
(b) Protective services:
Protection is comprised of the police services, fire departments and other protective
services. The mandate of the police services is to ensure the safety of the lives and
property of citizens; preserve peace and good order; prevent crimes from occurring; detect
offenders; and enforce the law. The fire department is responsible to provide fire
suppression services; fire prevention programs; training and education related to prevention;
and detection or extinguishment of fires.
(c) Transportation services:
The public works department is responsible for the delivery of municipal public works
services related to the planning, development and maintenance of roadway systems, the
maintenance of parks and open space, and street lighting. Transportation services is
responsible for public transit services.
(d) Community, environmental and public health services:
The community, environmental and public health departments are responsible for the
delivery of municipal programs to promote public health, seniors and youth programs,
maintenance of the dykes, cemetery and environmental sustainability services. Services for
solid waste collection, disposal and recycling are also included under this heading.
(e) Leisure, parks and cultural development:
The leisure, parks and cultural development department is responsible for the delivery of
municipal public works services related to the planning, development and maintenance of
parklands and park infrastructure, and the maintenance of open space and other recreation
space and facilities.

www.merritt.ca

City of Merritt ★ 2012 Annual Report 61

Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

14. Segmented information (continued):
(f)

Water Utility:
The City is responsible for environmental programs including the engineering and operation
of the potable water system.

(g) Sewer Utility:
The City is responsible for environmental programs including the engineering and operation
of wastewater systems.
Certain allocation methodologies are employed in the preparation of segmented financial
information. Taxation and payments-in-lieu of taxes are allocated to the segments based on the
segment’s budgeted net expenditure. User charges and other revenue have been allocated to
the segments based upon the segment that generated the revenue. Government transfers have
been allocated to the segment based upon the purpose for which the transfer was made.
Development charges earned and developer contributions received were allocated to the
segment for which the charge was collected.
The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the
preparation of the financial statements as disclosed in Note 1.
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970,106

Annual surplus (deficit)

$

902,034
643,623
170,878
123,600
1,840,135

Expenses:
Salaries, wages and
employee benefits
Operating
Debt services
Amortization
Total expenses

1,276,478
7,642
876,520
113,862
133,053
310,565
92,121
2,810,241

$

General
Government

Revenues:
Taxation
User charges
Government transfers
Investment income
Penalties and interest
Other
Actuarial adjustment to
debt
Total revenues

2012

14. Segmented information (continued):

Year ended December 31, 2012

$

$

352,808

836,081
2,129,731
106,547
3,072,359

3,425,167

3,104,644
261,043
58,000
1,480
-

Protective
Services

$

$

(371,129)

544,289
829,604
453,531
1,827,424

1,456,295

1,391,931
57,580
6,784
-

Transportation
Services

$

$

121,788

192,794
836,405
43,114
1,072,313

1,194,101

114,339
1,042,121
37,641
-

Community,
Environmental,
Public Health
Services

$

$

$

(833,031) $

908,843
1,310,713
104,606
285,840
2,610,002

50,104
1,776,971

944,120
543,440
238,250
1,057
-

Leisure,
Parks and
Cultural
Development

692,603

241,312
338,673
226,394
255,712
1,062,091

40,851
1,754,694

481,188
1,232,655
-

Water
Utility

$

$

1,005,577

188,500
484,803
26,743
176,737
876,783

29,812
1,882,360

1,017,762
834,786
-

Sewer
Utility

$

$

1,938,722

3,813,853
6,573,552
528,621
1,445,081
12,361,107

212,888
14,299,829

8,330,462
3,979,267
1,210,411
123,183
133,053
310,565

Total
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1,966,036

Annual surplus (deficit)

$

896,980
932,294
166,985
111,225
2,107,484

Expenses:
Salaries, wages and
employee benefits
Operating
Debt services
Amortization
Total expenses

1,960,077
6,804
1,281,410
68,582
160,187
45,000
425,206
126,254
4,073,520

$

General
Government

Revenues:
Taxation
User charges
Government transfers
Investment income
Penalties and interest
Developer contributions
Other
Actuarial adjustment to
debt
Total revenues

2011

14. Segmented information (continued):

Year ended December 31, 2012

$

$

(133,548)

756,973
2,187,656
112,650
3,057,279

2,923,731

2,679,012
187,364
56,250
1,105
-

Protective
Services

$

$

(140,495)

493,902
491,823
410,088
1,395,813

1,255,318

1,198,360
47,398
6,561
2,999
-

Transportation
Services

$

$

54,126

341,796
756,847
59,966
1,158,609

1,212,735

147,379
1,032,640
32,716
-

Community,
Environmental,
Public Health
Services

$

$

$

(983,712) $

824,000
1,221,250
92,225
274,141
2,411,616

1,427,904

666,333
532,948
227,850
773
-

Leisure,
Parks and
Cultural
Development

683,397

249,775
304,361
229,302
264,322
1,047,760

34,392
1,731,157

484,374
1,212,391
-

Water
Utility

$

$

1,056,043

191,251
406,802
31,756
177,010
806,819

26,989
1,862,862

1,024,494
811,379
-

Sewer
Utility

$

$

2,501,847

3,754,677
6,301,033
520,268
1,409,402
11,985,380

187,635
14,487,227

8,160,029
3,830,924
1,604,787
73,459
160,187
45,000
425,206

Total

Notes to Financial Statements
(Continued)

www.merritt.ca

Notes to Financial Statements

(Continued)

Year ended December 31, 2012

15. Budget data:
The unaudited budget data presented in these financial statements is based upon the 2012
operating and capital budgets approved as the 2012 Financial Plan by Council on April 24, 2012.
The legislative requirements of the Financial Plan are that the cash inflows for the period must at
a minimum equal the cash outflows.
Cash inflows and outflows include transfers to and from reserves and surplus, proceeds from
debt issued and principal repayments on debt; however, these transactions are not recognized as
revenues and expenses in the statement of operations as they do not meet the definition for such
under public sector accounting standards requirements.
In addition, PSAB requires that budget figures be presented in the financial statements on the
same basis of accounting as actual figures. The chart below reconciles the budget figures
reported in these financial statements to the approved Financial Plan.
Budget amount
Surplus - Statement of Operations

$

Adjust for budgeted cash items not included
in Statement of Operations:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Debt principal payments
Transfers from reserves

(4,659,041)
(229,980)
2,950,294
(1,938,727)

Adjust for non-cash items included in
Statement of Operations, but not budgeted
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Financial Plan Balance
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3,383,808

(1,445,081)
$

-
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Statistical Review

!

Long Term Debt

!
!

Building Permits

BUSINESS
LICENSES

2012
ISSUED
183
VALUE
88,858.

2010
ISSUED
141
VALUE
47,997.
CONSTRUCTION
VALUE
11,754,439

www.merritt.ca

2011
ISSUED
137
VALUE
52,278.

2010

2011

2012

568

604

616

CONSTRUCTION
VALUE
7,038,800

CONSTRUCTION
VALUE
7,676,361
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Schedule of Suppliers
Name
Acro Media Inc.
Andrew Sheret Limited
Arctic Spas Kamloops
BC Assessment Authority
BC Hydro
BC Hydro & Power Authority (Lease)
BC Hydro (Vancouver) (Utility Acct)
BC Transit
Boultbee Vegetation Management
Burst-Into-Site
Cleartech Industries Inc.
Compass Resource Management
Copper Valley Mechanical
Corporate Express Canada Inc.
CTQ Consultants Ltd.
CUPE Local 900
DG Regan & Associates Ltd.
Eagle Valley Excavating Inc.
Emmerick Excavating Ltd.
EXP Services Inc.
Fortis BC - Natural Gas
Fred Surridge Ltd.
Geoadvice Engineering Inc.
Hack Electric
Hub Electric
Idome Consulting
Interior Savings Insurance
J & R RV Park Services
KD Engineering Co.
KPMG
Lee's Music
LNB Construction Ltd.
Lumar Design & Management Ltd.
Merritt Arena Sports Ltd.
Merritt Herald
Merritt Hotel/Motel Association
Minister of Finance
Minister of Finance - MSP
MMM Group Limited
Municipal Insurance
Murray GM
Nicola Valley Heritage Society
Nicola Valley Museum/Archives Assoc.
Nicola Valley Women
Okanagan Waterwell Drilling Inc.
Opus Dayton Knight
Pacific Blue Cross
Peters Bros. Construction Ltd.
Ray Smith Services
Receiver General - RCMP E Division FSS
Receiver General For Canada
Rtown Communications
School District No. 58
SCS Steel Container Systems Inc.
SFJ Inc.
TBM Cleaning & Restoration Services
Telus
Temple Consulting Group Ltd.
The Sunshine Valley Good Earth Co.
Thompson-Nicola Reg. District
True Consulting Group
V-Line Construction (1992) Ltd.
Worksafe BC
Yellowhead Pavement Marking
Young Anderson
Payments Made (Vendors Over 25,000)
Miscellaneous Payments (Under 25,000)
Total 2012 Payments Made
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Amount
$27,260.80
33,173.46
125,993.28
75,432.48
122,469.40
39,191.04
285,769.53
120,141.00
46,010.27
28,536.39
29,086.61
42,441.29
52,956.20
32,292.39
67,179.44
42,779.22
67,726.66
1,133,165.54
33,600.00
41,129.48
192,177.72
60,894.83
105,432.81
52,259.77
26,638.31
122,321.61
59,329.00
109,531.45
47,267.91
32,579.68
28,590.24
436,293.55
54,705.47
189,520.76
48,934.00
55,318.19
983,535.88
44,254.00
95,739.02
40,688.40
54,384.70
59,733.33
35,000.00
35,000.00
28,168.00
41,655.97
163,684.37
125,896.08
44,808.40
600,918.86
2,106,354.08
28,099.33
139,930.98
263,324.77
117,473.21
154,871.62
134,720.21
31,031.55
243,620.16
2,841,017.96
45,938.76
216,137.49
52,310.96
32,764.24
61,454.35
$12,890,646.46
2,221,905.09
$15,112,551.55
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Schedules

Principal Tax Payers

TOP 10 CORPORATE TAX PAYERS

2012
LEGAL NAME
TOLKO INDUSTRIES LTD.
ASPEN PLANERS LTD.
WAL-MART CANADA CORP.
RAIL YARD ENTERPRISES LTD. INC. #481650
ARDEW WOOD PRODUCTS LTD.
CANADIAN TIRE REAL ESTATE LTD.
LOBLAW PROPERTIES WEST INC.
HIGHLAND PELLET MANUFACTURING LTD.

TYPE OF PROPERTY
FORESTRY PRODUCTS INDUSTRY
FORESTRY PRODUCTS INDUSTRY
RETAIL/GROCERY
RETAIL
FORESTRY PRODUCTS INDUSTRY
RETAIL
GROCERY
FORESTRY PRODUCTS INDUSTRY

TRANS MOUNTAIN PIPELINE
STERLING HUNT (GP) LTD.

PIPELINE
LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

2011
LEGAL NAME
TOLKO INDUSTRIES LTD., INC. NO. A0066883
ASPEN PLANERS LTD., INC. NO. 86285
WAL-MART CANADA CORP.
RAIL YARD ENTERPRISES LTD., INC.
ARDEW WOOD PRODUCTS LTD.
CANADIAN TIRE REAL ESTATE LIMITED
LOBLAW PROPERTIES WEST INC.
HIGHLAND PELLET MANUFACTURING LTD.,
TRANS MOUNTAIN PIPELINES INC.
WAGON WEST TRAVEL PLAZA LTD.

TYPE OF PROPERTY
FORESTRY PRODUCTS INDUSTRY
FORESTRY PRODUCTS INDUSTRY
RETAIL/GROCERY
RETAIL
FORESTRY PRODUCTS INDUSTRY
RETAIL
GROCERY
FORESTRY PRODUCTS INDUSTRY
PIPELINE
RETAIL/LAND

www.merritt.ca
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Statement of Council Disqualifications
(For the Year Ending December 31, 2012)
One Councillor resigned in 2012 with a by-election held in September of 2012.
There were no Council members disqualified in 2012.

Guarantee & Indemnity Agreements
The City of Merritt has not given any guarantees or indemnities under the Guarantees and
Indemnities Regulation.
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Property Tax Information

!

2012 Tax Collected

(Millions)

!

!"#$%&'$()$*&
!
Requsitions
from other agencies affect the amount of property tax collected by the City of Merritt each year.
"#$#%&'!()*'+,!&-#.,+#/!&00#,1!12#!(%3(#%14!1&5!%&1#!&.6!12#!&73).1!30!(%3(#%14!1&5!,3''#,1#6!
The
City doe not have control over the tax rates and/or dollar amounts that are set by other agencies,
for
which the City collects taxes. More information on these agencies is available through their websites.
*4!12#!8+14!30!9#%%+11!#&,2!4#&%:!;2#!8+14!63#/!.31!2&$#!,3.1%3'!3$#%!12#!1&5!%&1#/!/#1!*4!312#%!
&-#.,+#/!03%!<2+,2!<#!,3''#,1!1&5#/!3.!*#2&'0!30:!93%#!+.03%7&1+3.!3.!12#/#!&-#.,+#/!+/!
&$&+'&*'#!12%3)-2!12#+%!<#*/+1#/:!
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